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. COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS,

PART III.

THE PEOPLE

OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

T e e

-Against-

Frank Ellison .

Indictment filed July 13th, 1893,
Indicted for Assault in the First Degree.

New York, September 27th, 1893,

APpearances

For the People, Assistant District Attorneys
Francis L. Wellman and James W. Osborne,.

For the Defendant, Messrs. Charles W. Brooke,

William J. O0'Sullivan and Lewis Stuyvesant
Chanler,

DOUGIL A S S MY T H, a witness for the People, sworn,
. testified:
I am an architect in business in this city. The
Plan shown me of 39th Street between 5th and Park Avenues’

was made by me at the request of Mr. Osborne and is cor-

rect. The scale of +the pPlan is fifty feet to the inch.

WIL ﬁ I A M H., HENRTIGQUE S, a witness for the People,

s
i

sworn, testified:

I am a married man and live at 94 Park Avenue -in

this ceity, and have lived there since last May. My

business is a stock brokerfﬁI have been a member of the
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Stoek Exchange about thirty years. I shall be 61 yvears
old next month. I know the defendant, and first met him

a number of years ago. About 1887 I introduced him to

my only daughter Leila Olyve Neame, who is about 25 years

of age. He called at the house a couple of times, and

did not see my daughter again until she returned from

Europe with her husband in the summer of 1891. The de-
Tfendant then met her husband Mr. Neame. In September

of that year I had a conversation with the defendant

regarding my daughter. I told him his attentions were

too marked to Mrs.-Neame, and people would talk about it;
that he must stop them., He got very indignant and said
until she dismissed him he would not desist his attent-
ions.

He was at my house nearly all the time g fter

that and frequently took his meals there, At midnight on

January 20th, 1393, the defendant was at my hduse, and

I heard him sSay as he went out that if he was turned out
off the house he wouid give his eviAence for Mr. Neame in
the divorce Proceeding then rending between my daughter

and her husband, in which the defendant Ellison was named

as co-respondent in the counter charge. On the Tuesday
following the 28th of February, 1883, I went to Police
Headquarters and made a charge against the defendant,
The letter shown me is in the defendant's handwriting.

On Marech 2nd, 1893, I saw the defendant at his room,

and Mr., Oelrichs was present. Ellison said I had been

to Superintendent Byrnes, and he had been taken from his

rooms by Sergeant Hickey, and that unless I withdrew all

charges I had made against him, he would Publish every-
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thing connected with Mrs, Neame's divorece, and also
letters he ha?. I told him that he had been guilty of
acts of violence and had made threats in my house, and

he said "It is a lie", There was some talk about Tightig

a duel across a table; I told him I didn't care zbout

any heroiecs, and would consult my family before I gave

any withdrawal. The defendant asked me to give him
lett ers of apology from my daughter, my wife and myself.
The defendant gave me forty-eight hours. I 4id not seece
him agéin except in the strect after that,. I received
the letfer shown me; it is in Prank Ellison's writing
and signed by him, I wrote the letter now shown me,

and in reply received the letter of March 4th,. The
letter now shown me is in Ellison's handwriting; I re-
ceived it about a couple of weeks after Marech 5th.
Towards 7 o'clock on the afternoon of June 5th I met

the defendant alone for the first time, on the north

side of 39th Street east of Madison Avenue about 100 feet
from the corner. I didn't’see a soul in the street.

Mr. Ellison came up and placed his body against me and
would not allow me to prass, I said "Allow me to Pass,

if you please", and moved first to the left and then to
the right to get by. He said "You damned old son of g
bitch, I'm a great mind to break every bone in your skin!
I put my hana up and said "I do not know you and do not
want to.," With that he struck me in the mouth, I pull-
ed a piétol out of my pocket and fired = shot in the air
bto attract attention. The defendant Ffedl back about

ten féet. I put the pistol in my pocket and started =




Tew steps towards home. The defendant struck me seve;al
blows over the head with a stick. I fell off the curb-
stone in the street, The next thing I remember he was
on top of me beating me with 211 his might‘saying "Damn
you, I will kill you"; he said it several times. Then
men from the stable who heard the shot rulled Ellison
off. He came back and kicked me in the head and face,
while I was still down. The men finally got him away,
and I tried to get up but was wnable to. One of the men
from the stable took me by the arm and took me home ,

Dr, Webster came to my house in about half an hour, and
about an hour after that I went with Dr. Webster in a
carriagg to the stationhouse and made = complaint,

I was there about ten minutes, then returned to my house
and immediately went to bed. I was in bed for seven
weeks, attended by Dr. Webster, Dr. Wynkoop and Dr. Me
Burney. I could not see out of my eyes, my left esar

was all black, the temple swollen, my nose entirely out
of shape, my 1lips so swollen I could not move them, my
right eye black, and there were contusions oﬁ both sides
of the cheek. I also had a wound on my left shoulder,
and some cuts on the top of my head, Dur ing the six
months after the defendant ceased his visits ﬁo my house
I hardly ever noticed him. I am about five feet five
tall and have carried a Pistol all my life, I got =
rPermit twelve or thirteen years ago to carry one in this
: city. .
CROSS E?AMINATION:

I have been a member of the Stock Exechange nearly

4) _ (4)
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§thirty years, and before that lived in Califomia. I

_/jhave continuously been a resident of New York City for
at least thirty years, I first met Mr, Ellison when he
was a member of the Stock Exchange also. He visited my
house at my invitation, and I introduced him to the mem-
bers of my family. I was then housekeeping in 64th Stree¢
The defendant was at my house three times in all before
my daughter was married, She was married in Europe and
Mr. Neame returned with her to this country. I intro-
duced Mr, Ellison and Mr., Neame at the Manhattan Club,
and the defendant visited the hotel where we were living.
Mr, and Mrs. Neame were here several weeks the first
time, and went back to Europe. They then returned to
this country and Mr, Neame went back after a week, but
Mrs., Neame 4id not accompany him. My daughter Mrs,
Neame stayed with me at the Viectoria Hotel, and the de-
fendant called there on my wife and daughter, Later
they went to Narragansett Pier for the swmer, and the
defendant followed them. I visited my family at Nar-
ragansett Pier, and Mr. Ellison Was there at the time,
to which I objected to my wife. When my wife and her
sister returned from Narragansett Pier they left Mrs,
Neame there, and the defendant Ellison was there at that
time, My daughter and the defendant returned in about
a week's time, The nighp of Mr., Ellison's vreturn I
had the conversation with him which I have detailed here.
From June or July to November, 1891, my family resided
at the Park Avenue Hdtel, and Mr, Ellison came there fre-
quently. In November we took & house in 45th Street.
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Mr. Ellisoq dined there with my family and myself re-
reatedly; our relations were friendly at that time.
Divorce Proceedings between Mr. and Mrs. Neame weére then
contemplated on the ground of adultery, and they were
talked over in the family. The defendant was in the
confidence of the family about the divorce. The decree
of @ivorce was granted in March of 1893, During the
time the Proceedings were pending Mr. Ellison visited my
family, and took interest in the matter, I never knew
he was to marry my daughter, On May lst we moved from
45th Street to 94 Park Avenue, where I live now s, and
Mr., Ellison was there constantly.  Judge Howland was

the referee in the divorce suit of my daughter, and

Judge McAdmem granted the decree, Two women, my wife,

Mr., Ellison and myself were witnesses on my daughter's
side of the case, and Mr, Neame was on the stand in
opppsition to the divorce; there was only one suit tlm+t
I know af. Mr. Neame in his answer charged adultery

as between my daughter and My, Ellison. After that the
defendant continued to visit my house. I made a com-
Plaint to the police against Mr. Ellison for annoying

my family; after that time I did no+ speak to him. I
went and saw Superintendent Byrnes about the matter, and
he said he would take chgrge of it and notify Mr. Elli-
Son that his yisits to my family were no longer desired,
I know Mr. Ellison was visiting my house fTor about 18
months, and that is as near 2s I can recollect the length
of time he visited my house. Befo re my family started

to Cape May the subject of divorce had been spoken of.
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My family remained at Cape May with Mr. Ellison; I could
not say that they were under his Protection, but I be-
lieve he was = great deal in their company. My family
also went to Long Beach in company with Mr. Ellison.

Mrs. Neame stayed there several times. He also went
with her to Seabright, New Jersey. I do not drink any
more than I can take care of, I do not rememb er be ing
intoxicated at Saratoga on any oceasion and threateninsg
to kill Mr. Kllison. On the night of the assault after
I had fired the revolver I returned it to my side pocket.
I had no intention of wound ing Mr. Ellison when I pulled
the pistol; my only intention was to call the police.

I have béen at the Stock Exchange nearly every day since
the 1lst of August. I have no% been very active on the
floor of the Exchange since this assault, I have not
been able to be very active, Dr., Wynkoop and Dr. Mc
Burney saw me at different t imes. Mr., Bllison threatened
to go oWer to the Neame s ide of' the divorce case at one
time. I have been in a house of Prostitution call ed
the House of All Nations. I never pulled a pistol'on

a woman in that house, nor in any other house. I haqd

a fight with a man named Mitchell on the Stock Exchange

one day; he gave me the lie and I strueck him. None of

the parties were arrested on account of that assault,

I never said to anyonhe that I was going to shoot Ellison
an sight. After I fell on tﬁe night of the assault,
Ellison struck me first a severe blow in the mouth;
afferwards he struck me on the righﬁ side, There was a
ve?y short int erval between the blows. The defendant
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had on a dirty-looking gray suit of some kinag, I hadn't
much time to think of Mr. Ellison's dress. I am certain
that I fired in the air. I have carried a pistol in
this city for thirty Years, but never had oeccasion to

use it before. The defendant pounded me with his fist
most unmercifully when I was down on the ground. have
never been troubled with any d isease or disorder in my

life,

L ENNO N, a witness for the Peopile, sworn, testified
I live at No. 23 EBast 39th Street. I know the de-
fendant by sight. On the night of the assault I was
sitting by the window in my house » and I saw Mr, El1li-
son going by. A couple of minutes after he had gone
by I heard a shot. I did not go out the minute I heard
it, but I went out a2 minute or two afterwards, and I
saw Mr. Henriques lying on his side in the gutt er. Mr,
Ellison just gave him a kick in the mouth then; I am
rositive I saw Mr, Ellison kieck him, I had seen Mr,
Ellison going by the house where I live the Sunday before
this assault.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

My attent ion was directed to the disturbance when

I heard the pistol shot.

DAVID WEB S TER, a witness for the People, sworn,
tesgified:
I am a practising physician having my office at
527 Madison Avenue in this city. I have been pradising
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here since the spring of 1868S8. On the evening of the
5th of June I was called in +to attend Mr. William }.
Henrigues. I fouﬁd him with his left eye enormously
Swollen; the eyelids were so swelled that it was with
great difficulty that I could open them sufficiently to
see ahy of the eyeball. I d4id open them, however,
and I found the eyeball itself very much swelled f'rom
the bleeding under the skin, and partly from the escap-
ing of other constituents of the blood. His left cheelk
was very much swelled; his left temple greatly swelled,
bulged at least an inch; his left ear was swelled; both
his lips were very much swelled. The inside of his
upper 1lip was bleeding at several pPoints, His nose was
as big as two or three noses, and at the inner corner of
the left eye was a semi-cirecular bleeding wound. When
I examined him the next day it seemed to me very evident
that there had been three distinct blows, one across

his cheek, one on his ear, and another on his temple,

I applied iced cloths over the whole of the parts that
were swelled, and hzd them changed every two or three min-
utes, .. During the following six days Mr. Henriques was
very depressed and in a condition of semi-stupor; he

would not say a word unless aroused, and then his answers

were very brief,

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I saw My, Henriques at 94 Park Avenue. I made the
notes in my book at the +time of my visits, The partic-
ﬁlar bruising on Mr. Henriques seemed to be the left
cheek, the left temple, the left eye and the left ear.
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I do not believe a man could get all those injuries by
falling on the pavement. The marks on Mr. Henriques'
face loocked very much as if they had been done with the
heel of a boot, I could not say positively that they
were done with a cane, I have seen wounds made with a
seal ring, but I do not think those wounds were so made,
The condition of Mr., Henriques after the assault I be-
lieve was caused by the excitement and by the aséault
itself. His pulse kept about the same during the six

days that I attended him.

TIOMASZS M cMANN, a witness for the People, sworn,
testified:

I am a stableman emnloyed at a stable on East 39th
Street, close to Fifth Avenue, kept by Mr. H. Willis.
Between seven and half-past seven o'eclodk on the night
of the 5th of June I was at 14 East 39th Street. My
attention was attracted by some reople shouting that
there was a fight; A number of us turned and looked
around, and going over we saw two men in the gﬁtter on
the other side of Madison Avenue, Mr, Ellison was on
top of Mr., Henrigques about a foot away from the sutter;
he was pounding him with a cane in his hamnd and prounding
him in the face.  He had his two knees on his breast.
His two fists were going with the cane in one hand.

I think I saw Mr. Bllison strike about ten blows. I
caught hold of him and pulled him off, and three or four
of then held Mr. Ellison while I picked up Mr. Henriques{
Coming fowards him afterwards Mr. Ellison kidked him in‘
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the eye whils he was getting up from the gutter.
Mr, Henriques home,
CROSS EXAMINATION:

I never saw Mr. Ellison before that night., Mr,
riques has been in our stable on different occasions.
I 4did not hear any shot fired on that night; I have
been to the District Attorney's office once and had an
interview with Mr. Osborne, I was about half a block

away when my attent ion was attracted to this assault.

J OHN GRIZFTFTIN, a witness for the People, sworn,
testified:

I am a driver employed by Mr. H. Willis, Oon the
night of the 5th of June I was standing close by the
stable in company with the last witness. I heard some-
body make a remark that there was a fight, and with that
I started to run with the others. I saw this man E11i-
son on top of Mr. Hernriques, He had his knees on his
chest or stomach; he was rounding him with his fist, and
he had a cane in his hand. He was using the cane on
Mr, Henriques; to the best of my knowledge he was using
it with both his hands, jabbing it up and down, I could
not say where the cane struck Mr. Henriques, My, McMann
and another gentleman took Mr. Henriques home.

CR0SS EXAMINATION:
’ I was close to Willis' stable when my attention was

directed to this assault. When Mr. HEllison was taken

away from Henriques I did not hear Ellison say "Y“This man

attempted my life," Mr. Ellison stopped right there;




I did not ‘see him attempt to make any escape, I saw no

Pistol in the hands of Mr, Henriques,

S OLOMON J. F ATMANDN, a witness for the People,
Sworn, testified:
I am in the cotton business at 70 Broad Street.
I saw the defendant Ellison at Jaques' restaurant on
Sixth Avenue on the night of the 5th of June last. It
was probably not later than eight o'eclock. Mr, Geo rge
Allen was with me, The defendant said he had & row on

39th Street; that he was insulted by g rarty, and that

he had knocked or hit him, and then the Party had drawn

a pistol, and he had given him a good beating. He sazid

we would read it in the newspaper the next day, and

that probably he would be arrested,

w. WRIGHT, a witness for the People,'sworn,
testified: |

I am a e¢lerk and starter for H. Willis, caririages,
I have been in his employ abput a year, Between seven
and half-past seven on the night of‘the.Sth of June last
I was at the Union League Club. I saw My, Henriques
bPass by the Union League Club, going East towards Madison
Avenue. I stood there = couple of minutes at the door
of the Union League Club, and was about to ecross the
Street when I noticed several cab drivers running,and
looking towards Madison Avenue I saw two men clinching.
I started to &0 down there also. I saw the two men on
the sidewalk near the curb. Mr. Ellison had a cane in
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one hand, as far as I could see from the back, and the
cane was going; both hands were going, one pounding him
and the other with the cane, He was kneeling on his
chest or stomach. Mr. Henriques was on his bazeck in
the gutter, I saw My, Ellison kick the complainant
sSeveral times, but cowld not say that he kicked him in
the face.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I have seen Mr. Ellison in that neighborhood before.
I never had any dispute with him, and had never spoken

to him before that night.

G EOR G E Ho AL L BN, a witness for +the People, sworn,

testified:

I am a merchant, having my place of bus iness at

No. 301 Produce Exchange in this city. I have known

the defendant Frank Ellison upwards of twenty years.

I was in Jaques' restaurant between 43rd and 44th Streets
on Sixth AkWenue on the night of the 5th of June., I saw
the defendant Ellison there, He told me he had got

into a row with a man; 2 man had insulted him, he struck

the man, the man drew a Pistol and fired it at him, and

then he liecked him. He showed me a cane he had broken.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I am certain he said the man insulted him, then he

struck him, then he fired = Pistol at him, then he beat

him., I could not recognize the cane if it was shown

to me,




ANDNTIGE PRING G CE, a witness for the People, sworn,
testified:
I live at No. 94 .Park Avenue; I am in the employ
of Mr. Henriques. I have seen Mr, Ellison walking uy
and down Park Avenue between 39th and 40th Streets about

three or four times a week after the 28th of February.

LEI L A O L YV E NEAMTBE, a witness for the People,
sworn, testified:
I am the daughter of Widliam H. Henriques.

known Frank Ellison about seven or eight years.
8 conversation with him in which he said that I
marry him the day after my divorce was granted,
fused. He became angry and very furicus, He. said,
"I am a desperate man. I haven't a friend in the world.
I have only seven cents in my pocket, You have got to
marry me, I am on the brink of the Erecipice. Ir I
g0 over it, you will £0 over it with me, I will brand

Your character so that no honest man, much less a woman,

wWill ever dare take you by the hand aga in. This is =all

your father's doing. That horrible blackguard, I will

e A

kill him; I will besat him; I will lick the life out of

him; T will kil1l him, I will come bhack and clean the

house out, I will kill him if I have to hangfor it.

This will be no Hugh Silevin affair; this time T will

kill m¥ man." I saw him on the morning of June 5th in
42nd Street directly in front of the Gram Central Depot. -
I felt someone catch me roughly by the arm, and so I
turned to speak to him a moment. I said vIr you don't
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leave me alone, I will give you in charge of an off'icer. "
He sazid "This is that damned Billy Henriques' doing.

I will be even with him for this; I will make him ray

for this." He called me a dirty harlot. I célled on
some men for protection, and Ellison disappeared, This
is one of the letters I received from the defendan +:
"Inspector Byrnes sent Ffor me to-day, or rather this
afternoon, and said that your father had been down to him
about ten days ago, and slso to-day, and made certain
charges against me; that I had ill-treated you and abused
you in every way, even so far as atitacking you and pull-
ing a pistol; also I tried to force my way into hfs

house against the wishes of all three of you, and that
your father, mother and yourself all made these complaints,
and that you were quite as bitter against me as they
were, I'can believe this of him, but hardly ol you.

Will you kindly tell me if this is true of you 92" I

Waé in my house when my fath er came home on th%® night

of this assault, I saw his pistol lying on the hall

table zbout an hour afterwards,

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I was first introduced to Mr. Ellison by my father
at our dinner table. Soon after that I went to London
and returned to this country with my husband Mr, Neame.
The defendant was a witness for me in the divarece case,
The defendant was with me at Narragansett Pier a grezt
dezal while I was there, and 80 Were many others, On one
occasiton my mother returned to New York and I remained
at Narragansett. The defendant was there with me for
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four or five days. I understood that I was the oeccasion
of my father's calling upon Inspector Byrnes. The reason
of his call was that Ellison's visits had become dis-

tasteful to me and my father. I have written the defendg-

ant several notes; one of them.was:l:&y dear Frank: I

am sending this on my way up. You know Mason dines at
the house to-night, However,I shall not See him, as

I am going to bed. Send me & line to-night, and come
in to-morrow afternoon for tea. Yours zs ever, L. "

I was the lady who was with Mr. Ellison on the nightw;g
assaulted Hugh Slevin. We were walking from the Bruns-
wick Hotel, and the assault occurred in front of the

Madison Square Garden, The men had a few words, and Mr.

Ellison struek Mr. Slevin, I never dined alone with
Mr.Ellisén after he was named as co-respondent in the
divorce suit, Mr. Ellison &t one time gave me an wm-
brella with his crest on it, which I afterwards had to
ray for. He also made me a rPresent of a lamp with his
crest on it. I went to Mr. Ellison's apartments with
my mother on one occasion to view & political parade;
that was the only time I ever wa#ﬁn his rooms,
BL ouwNTT, & witnhess for the People, sworn, testified;
I have known Frank Ellison for three months, m
acqua inted with Annie Prince. I have seen the de f'end-
ant several times on 39th Streét and 38th Street, between
Park and Madison Avenues, I am a porter in the drug-

Store at No. 405 PFifth Avenue.




GERARDU S H, WYNZKOOP, a witness for the Peoaple,

sworn, testified:

I am a physiecian, Practising at 128 Madison Avenue
in this ecity. I saw Mr. Henriques about ten or half-pass:
teh o'clock on the night of the injury. He was in bed,
with his head covered with cloths. I found that his
head was bruised and swollen, & bruise on the right arm
below the shoulder,and another bruise on the chest, on
the left side. The left eye-lids were so swollen thsat
the eye could not be seen without very careful manipul-
ation. The ball of the eye was the seat of hemorrhage
underneath the skin of the eyeball, The inside surface
of the urper 1lip had been cut. The lower 1ip was swollen
but not 4o much a? the upper 1lip. The left ear was
swollen, the left side of the forehead was swollen, and
there were two points on one side of the nose where
besides the bruises the skin had been broken. I found
him in a state of what is ealled shock; he had a very»
féeble rulse, and his body was more or less covered with
a clammy, cold perspiration. It was my opinion that
he had a fracture of the skull, znd that he had contus-
icns of the brain substance. The symptoms were a con-
Stant pain in the head, worse over the left temple, and
made Worse by pressure over the left temple,

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I was called first on the night of the 5th of June
gbout half-past ten. Mr. Henrigues was zble to answer
any questioA;\I prut to him.,. His articulation was nof
distinect. This may have been caused by the swollen lip.
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ANNTIE Me NAMARA,, =z witness for the People, sworn,

testified:

I was a maid at Mr. Henriques' house 94 Park Avenue.
I saw Mr. Ellison between half-past nine ami ten o'cloek
one night about the ls+t of June last. I could not tell
how long he stayed there. I saw him three times that

evening walking up and down.

J A M‘E S P, DAVENPOR T, a witness for the People,
swWworn, testilied:
I am Deputy Clerk of the Court of General Sessions.
I produce the indictment of the People against Frank
Ellison Ffiled Monday, September 12, 1392, It appears by
that indict#ent that the defendant pleaded guilty to as-

sault in the third degree, and was fined $250.

CHARILSZE s Cc. REPP ER, a witness for the Pecple,
sworn; tes%ified:
I was the officer in the case of the People against
Frank Ellison when he was arrested for assaulting Hugh
Slevin, The defendant is the same man who was then fined

$250,
DEFENSE ,

L OU f's HAL L OCC K, a witness for the defendant, sworn,
iftestified:
I am =2 physician Practising at 34 East 39th Street,
between Madison and Fourth Avenue. I recollect the even
ing of the 5th of June. on that night I stepped to

the front door and Stood there for a few minut es. The
(18)




S

i
I
|

it
I

i
i

first thing I saw was yhe old gentleman lying in the
gutter nearly opposite where I live. As he rose, he
turned to face the other man, He stood in front of him
as though to speak to him, anﬁ he immediately received a
blow and fell again. I saw the elderly man rise from
the gugter and stand and face'the young man; it was then
th= blow was struék. I stood by my door all the time ,

A crowd gathered, andII was unable to sec clearly every-
thing that t ook Prlace. It was diagonally oprosite my
house,

SHEPARD BERRY a witness for the defendant, sworn,

2

testified:

I am employed by Dr. Ha lloeck, On the night of

the 5th of June I heard & noise which I thought was that
of a fire-cracker, When I looked o?t I saw’'a crowd down
the street, One man was down in the gutter and the
other man was standing over him. I called the doctor
out. I did not see any blows struck.,
CROSS EXAMINATION:

I could not tell what any of the men were doing.
The old gentleman was down in the gutter, I made an af-
fidavit in this case when I was at Narragansett Pier,
I signed my name to it, In that affidavit I said "I
heard a noise; I could no+t tell whether it was the noise
of a revolver or not. When [ heard the noise I looked

across the street, and then I ecalled Dr. Hallock's at-

~ \-‘

x,

tention to the men who were fighting, I 4did not see
the quarrel when it began; the first I saw of it was
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wnen one man was in the gutter, and the other man was

punching him,"

T D E GORCOURTIA, a witness for the defend-

ant, sworn, testified:
- I know Mr. William H. Henriques. I have seen him

on the Stock Exchange during the month off August. He

walked with = cane,
S AMUTEBIL L ANDSGBSBE RG testified to the same ef1ect.

ANSON R. STEELE, a witness for the defendant, sworn,
testified:
I live at 153 Rast 23rd Street. On the night orf
. the 5th of June I was walking on Madison Avenue south
Trom 42nd Street. As I got to the corner of $9th Street
I saw two gentlemen, a small gentleman and a tall gentle-
man, They were about Seventy Teet from the corner. The
smaller of the two gentlemen se2med very much excited;
the taller gentleman éeemed L0 be more at ease and cooler
I started down +to meet this man and %o see what the
trouble was, I got about ten or fifteen feet down on
39th Street when the smaller gentleman put his hand in
his pocket and drew out a revolver, He held it in front
of him and fired straight at the defendant Ellison. The
taller man Bllison kind of Jumped to one side and seemed
surprised. Then he got angry and said "Give me that
pistol,"® In his right hand hé had a cane, His fist

shut on the cane, ani he hit the old man and knocked him

down, When he did so he still kept hitting the old man .

15
i
i
1
|
i
|
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and he grabbed the cane around the head. The old man
was trying to Protect himsels f'rom g2t ting hit, When

the 0ld man hag gone away the defendant said "I woulq

rather it had been any other man in the wor ld whno fired

that shot but him,"
CROSS BEXAMINATION ::
I was employed as a clerk in the Post Off'ice in
Philadelphia, I was discharged fyom there for being ofi
duty. I have earned about 75 éénts during the last
three weeks doing odad jobs, I have lived in lodging

houses in 23rg Street; I am living in one now, The suit

of clothes which T have on was given to me by the def end -~
ant's counsel, so that I might make g resrectable appear-
ance in court,. I have received about $10.00 from the
defensge in this case for the Purpose of hunting up a.
witness who was with mé on the night of this cccurrence,
His name is Henry Palmer; I have been hunting for him
for a couple of weeks, My expehses since that time
have been raid by My, Brooke, the counsel in this

I have not been promised anything for 8iving my testimony
in this case, I have been g frequenter_of General Hag-
ley's mission at 42hd Street and Third Avenue for some
time; Palmer arg I got out meals there for Several weeks.
The story which I have told of this shoo ting is true,

My attent ion was attracted to the place because I saw

my frierd Palmer walking up the sStreet, I have not been
able to fing Palmer Since that time. When I heard of

this case in the bPaper, I went to‘ﬁ?. Brooke's o ffice

and offered myself as a witness, I told nim the same

story T have told here.

(21)
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U s PROKRASK Y, a witness for +he defendant,

sSworn, testifisd:

I keep a hotel in New Haven, Connecticut, Previous

to going to Connecticut I was connected with Delmonico's.

for hine years. On the 5th of June at 7 o'cloek in the
evening I was Zoing down Park Avenue, with the intention

of going to Trainor's . At Park Avenue z=nd 39th Street

I saw Mr. Ellison and Mr, Henriques; they eame from op-
Posite directions, Mr. Bllison Put his hand on Mr., Hen-
riques’ shoulder, as far as I could observe, and there

was some words., I saw Mr, Hen riques Pull out a Pistol

and shoot Point-blank at Mr. Ellison; he did not shoot

in the air; he shot Point-blank =zt him, I afterwards

Saw Mr. Ellison in the hands of g Policenmn, spoke

to him and saig he had bett er not get into any trouble.
After ihe shot was fired I saw My, Ellisqn 80 a couple
of paces towards Mr, Henriques, and strike at him with

‘his fist, ana the "est I could not See, because the

crowd gathered so quickly and + ook Mr. Ellison away.
I did not want to get into any trouble myself, I took

Ellison away from the police, and wvhen I took him away

he bled in the mouth, I took him towards Sixth Avenue.

He took a car ang went down town. Mr. Ellison had a
cane in his hsand.
CROSS EXAMINATION:
When I first saw Mr. Ellison he was some distance

away from Mr, Henriques, I did not see Mr. Anson Steele.;

I might know Mr., Palmer if T saw him. I could not reall&

P

SWear how many men were around at +that time. I saw Mr. ;




Ellison place his hand on Mr. Henriques' shoulder; I
cannot tell why he placed his hard on hnis shoulder,
Mr., Bllism did not hit Mr. Henriques at that time; he
simply placed his hard gently on the shoulder. saw
the pistoel fired deliberately at Mr. Ellison's body.
During the two minutes while this was going on I was
walking towards the two men, and could pla inly see wha t
occurred. AAbout half a2 minute after M. Ellison took
his ha-rd of'f of Mr, Henriques' .shoulder, Mr, Henr-iéues
put his Eand in his pocket and rulled out the pistal.
The hotel I keep in Connescticut is the fin est hotelin

Connecticut, I was not discharged fraom the Manhattan

Beach Hotel, or from any other place, on a charge of

dishon es‘ty.

|
f
1

P R A NK EL LI S ON, the def endant, sworn in his own behéli',
testified: i
I have known the complainant Mr, Henriques for 12
or 15 years, I met him first 4in Wall St. I met Mrs.

Neame about seven years ago, Mr., Hemriques asked me to

dine with him. I met him one evening near Delmonico's,

and he said "Won't you come up and dine with us this

evening?V I said yes, and I went up to dinner. I think!

that was six or seven years ago. At that dinner I met

Y

Mrs. Neame, I afterwards heard of Mrs. Neame's marri-
age. ::. In.February, 1890,.I sailed Ffor EBurope with Mr,
Gebhard, When I sailed Mr., Henriques called at the
st,e-amer and ask'ed- me if I would ecall up o Neame in
London. I called on her in London in February, 1890.

(23)

T e e —————
- — e




She asked me to come to dinner; I declined at first,

and afterwards went. I met her in November, 1890, at
the Victoria Hotel in this city with her husbard. Hex
husband remained in the country until August, 1891, I
went to Long Branch in August with Mrs. Neame =znd Mr,

and Mrs, Henrigues. Shortly after Mr., Neame sailed,

Mr., and Mrs, Henrigues and the ir daughter wenﬁ to Nar-
raganset t. I went there at their sugsestion, Mrs. Neame
asked me i* I would not so. I stayed there about a month!
I frequently saw Mrs. Neame at her house after her hus-
band left this country for Europe, I went to her house
upon the invitation of Mrs. Neame arnd of Her father and
mother. The father did not dine at home very often.

Mrs. Neame cont inually talked to me about her fa ther.

She said that her father forced her to marry Neame, be-
cause -he thought Neame had money. She szid she was very
unhappy with Neame. I went to several wateringplaces
with the Henriques family, and was = great deal in Mrs.
Neame's society. I was arrested and fined for assault-
ing Hugh Slevin. Mrs. Neame is the lady who was in my
company at the time I assaulted him. He pushgd agalinst
Mrs, Neame and I resented the insult to her, I testifica
as a witness in Mrs, Neame's divorce guit against her
husband. At diffefent times Mrs, Neame said to me, "I
would rather marry you than any man in the world." I
said "It is impossible for me to marry you, though I

should like it very much, but two bPoor people should not

marvry, and I believe you are a very extravagant woman."

She said, "I wouwld rather marry you without a cent than

(24)
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& man with a million dollars." We were engaged between

ourselves; nobody else knew anything about it, Mrs.

Neame continually wrote to me at my celub and at my rooms.

Annie Prince, the colored woman, frequently brought me

notes from Mrs. Neame. Some of the letters which she

wrote me I now produce in court, Mrs. Neame tried to
have me appointed a consul through Mr. Delos McCurdy,

but she did not suceceed. If I had been appointed, I

wWas to be married to her. I never trecated Mrs. Neame
rudely at any time; I‘never laid a finger upon her in
any way. After*thé divorce suit our relations became
somewhat strained, and I did not dine as often at the
Henriques house. I knew thmat Mr, Henriques wés in
the habit of carrying a revolver, for he frequently told
me so. On the night of this assault I was on my way

to my rooms at No.324 Fifth Avenue, be tween 32nd and 33rg
Streets, I was looking for no one, nor was I anticip-

ating any trouble. I met Mr, Henriques. I said to him,

"I w&nt an explanation of your conduct, the way you
have talked about me and branded me"; he said "I don't
want to talk to you," I said "I want an explanation;

I insist upon it," With that I put my left hand upon
his shoulder. I stood there and I said, "I want an ex-
Plarmation; I insist upon it.," He put his right harnd in
his pocket am Pulled a2 pistol, I jumped back three or
four feet; he fired. We were facing each other directly;

this way. He took his revolver and fired at me, and if

- i

the bullet had struck me it would have hit me right on

the stomach, I was not armed in any way, as I have neverj
. ‘ |
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carried a pistol, After he fired the Pistol I made =
Jump for him, and caught him around the neck. We clinch-
ed and went down. He got his Pistol back as I Jumped
for him, I think his head struck the gutter, He got
hold of my stick. I had =a walkingstiek in my hand, and
he had hold of it in that way; he was pPulling it. He
grabbed my coat as he went down, made a Pass at me and
struck me once, I think in the mouth. I made a blow

at him. I jumped for him andg tried to get the pPistol
away fran him. "As he went down he got hold of my stick,
I suppose to protect himself, and he +%ook it like this,

I went down on'him. I do not think I had my knee on
him; I was on top of him and trying to get the pis£01
away from him, I struck him five or Six times with the

cane; the cane kept going all the time as ‘we struggled

for it. The n someone came and pulled me off of him.

I did not strike the man after he got up; I d4did not kieck

him in the way the witnesses have testified to. I aig
not strike him in any way before he pulled the Pistol
on me, After he shot at me, I think I called him some
preity hard names, and assaulted him then. I said to
the officer who ecame +to arrest me, "“"Why should you ar-
rest me? I have defended my life; a man shot at me de-
liberat ely," The officer says, "You were beatiﬁg him."
I said "I would beat any man who would take a Pistol out,
and deliberately fire it at me, " I then walked off,
and was not arres ted that night. I went to Jagues'
restaurant and showed the cﬁndition'of-my clothing:to

some friends there. The following morning I consulted

(28)
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with Mr, Bro ocke, my counsel, and gave myself up.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I am not a member of the

I am 43 years of age,

Turf Club. I was expelled from the Union Club for a

difficulty I had with one of the members. I also had

a fight in the Manhat tan Club with a man who insulted

me, I never had s fight with anyone in Seabright, New

Jersey, I gave the name of PFrank Livingston at the* time

I was arrested for assaulting Mr, Slevin. Mr. Delos

McCurdy appeared &s my counsel in court at that +time,

and made an apology to M. Slevin in my behalf, I woulg

not pérjure myself for any consideration, In the divoree

case I told the story I d.iq to shield Mrs. Neame, There

had been no wrongful relations be tween myself and Mrs.

Neame, After Mr; Neame went +to Europe I began to pay

attention to his wife. Her husbanpd I regarded as g

friend of mine, I was very fond of Mrs, Neame and en-

joyed myself in hgr company, I wrote this note to Mrs.

for

Neame: I found your note in my room last night,

which I thank You, dear Leila. I sincerely hope you

have not put me in a false Position before your fa ther

and mother, and allowéd them to think I am beg ging to

8o back to their house, as I should feel worse %han I do

now if I thought that.411 I have done in this matter

has been for your sake, also mine. What I BHid there is

no excuse for, even if I did imagine you had acted qif-

ferently towards me for some time b efo re it happened;

way., You wiill

and I blame myseif entirely and in every

never know how_I have suffered, and how dégraded and'low

|
|
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I feel for my horrible conduct in having lost complete

control of my temper, amnd cecan never forgive myself, and

do not blame you in the least for changing in your fecl-

ings towards me." I received three or four let ters

from Mrs, Neame in all. I never touched the hem of

her garment in a pPhysical way. I never threatened to

bPublish Mrs. Neame's letters to me. I consulted with

my counsel Mr. Brooke on ithe night of this assault as to

what I should do. He advised me to Sive myself up,
and I did so. After Mr, Henriques fired &t me he rut

his pistol back in his rPocket. He got it safely back

in his pocket before I Jumped at him, I was not going

to take any chances, so I struck him, He had hola of

my stick and was trying to get it away Trom me; it was

in that way that he got the wounds on his face.

WILLIAM K. O TIS, a witness for the def'endant, sworn,

testified:
I ama Practising physician in this city. I am

a2 member of the Racquet Club., I saw Mr. Ellison =t the

Racquet Club after this occurrence., He showed me the

head of his cane; it was very loose.
REBUTT AL,

a witness for the People, sworn, .

THOMAS F, SILLEGK,

testified:

I have been in the hotel ‘business for twenty years.

The general reputation of Mr, Julius Prokrasky for truth

I would not believe him under

and veracity is bad.

oath. o (283)
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PATRTIOGK H, DELEHANT Y, a witness for the People,

sSworn, testified:
I am an employe in the Distriet Attorney's office.
I went to Narragansett Pier in the summer of this Year,

and took the statenent of Shepard H,. Berry, In tha +

statement tne deponent said:"On the evening of the 5th of

June at about 7 P, M., T was s tanding on the'front step
of Dr. Hallock's house 34 Bast 39th Street when I saw
two men figh ting. One was down in the gutter, and the
other was stand ing over» him hitting the man that was
down about the body and head. I heara =a noise; I could
not tell whether or not it was a revolver shot, Whe n

I heard the noise I looked aeross the Street down towards
Madison Avenue. Then I called D, Hallock's at tention

to the men who were fighting."

H T 0 Y, a witness for the People, sworn, testified:
I ama member of the municipal Police force, and
have been for nearly four years. The comer of Madison
Avenue and 39th Street i§ in my precinect. On the 5th
of June last I was on Post on Park Avenue from 31lst to
40th Streets. I heard a whistle; I lookeq down the
Street and I saw a small crovd. When I got down there
an old man says "Ybu are about half an hour late. There

was a young bully here Punching an old man," I went up

Madison Avenue to see if I could find the man. I saw

Mr. EBllison walking away. I did not see Mr, Prokrasky

with Mr, E1l isond

((T. ‘.
o
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THOMAS 0O E N, a witness for the People, sworn, test-
ified:

I am an officer of the municipal police. On the
5th of June I was going down Madison Avenue when I saw
some people come out of the corner of 39th Street and
Madison Avenue and cross over the street, I met z boy

aanhe told me there were  two men fighting down 39th
PN e : -
s NGt =

-

Street. I ran up on the Bast side of the avenue. I

went -across Madison Avenue -towards 41lst Sireet. Ellison

- N -
- -

croégedloven;MadisonfAvenué at 4lst Street, and Officer

- -

!
P

Toy  came up éhd\brought him to_ a halt. There was not a

soul with hiﬂ@ I did "not SQE,Julius Prokrasky with him.

-

*-

W.ADSLZEY, , 8 witness for the Peopls,
Ll * SR \ Pl L N :4:'_'.”;:-"_.‘ et

Vo R

sworn, testified:

I am a member of the municipal prolice force. On
the 5th of June last I was Present with O0fficers Coen
and Toy. I saw Mr., Ellison walking away, I did not

see anybody with him; I 4did not see Mr. Prokrasky with

him.

The Jury returned a verdict convicting the

defendlant of Assault in the Second Degree.
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Gourt of General Sessions of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUN TY OF NEW YORK.

" THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEw YORK,

against

The Grand Jury of the City and Cor

Indictment accuse” -, Y

as a SECOND OFFEN SE, committed as follows :

holdep in and

Heretofore, to wit: at a court of General Sessions of the Peace,‘_

for the City and County of New York, at the City Hall, in the said City of New York,

onthe 4 35@(, day of = <~ > »

the year of our Lord, one thousand eight hundreq ¢ "ndﬁ/\\.\,\,\_i_\ %\N_Q
_before the Honorable X, _ s N Vg hl\,\,\\\@c\, w

P\ X\s_. WNM ..J\@V . e

and Justice of the said Court, the said N e PN -G

by the name and description of Y N Y. &N G
~ AN NP = )

was in due form of law convicted of
D TN

to wit : w_ ~— M ’K"A’“‘—b"““’ﬁﬁ“

upon 2 certain indictment then and there in the said Court depending against X\M.

the said ~ e S RS> s _ bythe

bame and descrlptlon of ——me—*—_--\

—_ as aforesaid,

- late of the




City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the —

. MX — day of —— in the

Year aforesaid, at the

City and

County aforesaid,- MW




ﬁnd TIIB]:Blt'VlT,Un’ upon the convictidn

aforesaid, it wns considered

by the said_Court of General Sessions of the Peace., and ordered

the said W= P \&.“Z:\D.\B;.\m\,_\/

_by the name and description of ~N=c_ = e VN P

and _adjudged that

as aforesaid,

> , sSXK whereof
was so convicted as aforesaid, WW&@ —
DR S

Hic.toxmeof

=

as by the record thereof doth more fully and at large appear.

And the saidSs oD R 5SS e e—— Y |

A

late of the

—

Qity__oif_Ke\_\:_Y_ork, dn_the ]

County of New York aforesaid, havi;

r_aforesaid, _afterwards, to wit: _on the . > = day ot

&-\Q\,\,\_‘_ ——-—===____in the_yeuwr_of ‘ouLLolcLone_thousand_eight._h_undu-:il_

afw at the City :md County aforesaid

. with wn;h force

and







Comt g Genernl Sessions of the Leace
OF T CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TueE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oN\ NEw YORK

against

‘ The Grand Jury of the City and Co nty of New Yor » by this indictment, accuse

of the Crive oF ASSAULT IN THE FIBST DEG E, mmitted as follows:
The said

late of the City of New York, in the County of New'York afordsaid, on the
day of one thousand eight hundred and

ninety- > with force d arms, at the City dd County aforesaid, in and upon
the body of one in the peace of the said People

then and there being, feloniously did fake an assault, and

which the said
in ight hand then and there had and held, the sam being a deadly and

dangerous weapon,/then and there wilfully and feloniously did strike, bewt, cut, stab and

wound,

with inten the said
thereby en and there feloniously and wilfully to kill, against the form of thé\ statute in
such #ase made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New

> dignity.
SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

T o Fate s e SRSy S eean
of the CriME or ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE&ommitted as follows: *
. " P 3 X V- M
The saidSe - L2

e e e e O — - VA - - Nie- T
eddy afterwards, to wit: On the day and in the ?ea,r aforesaid,

aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon the body of the said

S P~ L. NP . MJ in the peace of the said

People “then and there being, feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully make another assault,
. -~ . . P ~ - -
and . S the sald <X D > T W:“
with a certain m —_—
. ~
> oSN RS —_——————

right hand then and there had and held, the same being a weapon and

an instrument likely to produce grievous bodily harm, then and there feloniously did wilfully

and wrongfully strike, beat, outby~stedb~ and wound, against the form of the statute in such casé
made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their

dignity.




THIRD COUNT—

" AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

N NP RO9 A

R
Mh@—%‘mxd—ewmﬁ afterwards, to wit: On the day and in the Year aforesaid,
i at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon the said Nw~D¥n o> |
; ’h—\._wn the peace of the said People then and there being, feloniously
- dia wilfully and wrongfully make another assault, and Se~oee the said ~AarSA oo o
;%\. = AN':-,&N M I&.§Q_ M DD, W
with a certain M M k/\e N V.Y M\ > M QS\M -
which Re~m —the said B o RNa. ROV, T ——
in M right hand then and there had and held. in and upon the M - ’
p, - M._.\(of M the said M 9 S Q&.M SO
beat, stab, cut, bruise and ;_;

then and there feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully strike,
wilfully and wrong-
~

wound, and did then and there and by the means aforesaid, feloniously,

fully inflict grievous bodily harm upon the saidmw .

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

Peoople of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.
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lice Couct, . 7 o Disteict. - A C amm

C'z,ty Vand’,"“County } : : / : > A -
~of New York, 8- Sl Akt 4/1 A///hifid 7T 4
of JV'o‘.‘ LI 0 I/ T G € G~ 4 Street,aYed. .. 6)3‘/ __________________ years,
occupation //%ﬁ ' W%AW being duly sworn, deposes and says,

X —Z
that on the L .aday of%/m/ P 1892, at the City of New

Yorl, ir the County of New Yorlk “poras--deponent—isinformed..and. has

just cause to believe, one Charles Evans,now present) at and

within the re-zr tenement ,-Secand f_l0.0I_Qf__tha_piﬂf;mi_:‘c‘?, situgte

b er J368F R xter Street din the sixth ward of the =233 City
L/*“L'-d‘

New York y=Caid 3 wnlaVLfJ.z.J_lg;c,;z'.i.qully_ar d_Ffeloniciisly bin jure

ertain personal properiy of anoiis er,to wit,certain

arparel,consisting of dregsses and__t;n;ier~__9_1_0_‘fa,h_i.1ixb"- of _a

{valur- of _more than $25 namely of the value of aboul. $5Q,belongd

ing to_one T«’fn‘t;'e_Dpviq‘_in that said Chwxﬂss_ﬁﬂrmans_dii.then_;aﬂ»___,

b‘__e,r.e~ckc—_lib_egﬁ:b.ely__anLwi.‘!.f,ull;,z_seL_iia:e__to)‘and.._bmn ~the said.

personal property,seiting fire ia _the rens Ity of ihe =ziqg

Dremises in so dedng,din viclation of qccj;v'r\‘.'\_f.f_gé-_-oﬁ__th,e,hﬁen J-

bode of the State of New Vo rk -

Wherefors depcornent.

may Ixe dealt with according to  Jaw




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

..of No.

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavis

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponen

knowledge.

- CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

Police Justice.




Sec. 198—200. ) - District Police Court.

Wity ; e @oaxty of Wew Work, ss:

= ’ F et - '

7 ,(' cc /L(j" R = 2 2 being duly exa.mined' before the undersigned
according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that if is heo right to make a state-
ment in relation to the charge against’ h £, ; that the statement is designed to enable hlt;._, if he
see fit, to answer the charge and expla:in the facts alleged against h 1;; ; that  he is at liberty to

waive making a statement, and that hceo waiver cannot be used against hz,, . on the trial.
g g 2o ! ‘

__Question. What is your name ? _

ssseer. trleo . Crrons

Question. How old are you?

dnswer. IS W

Question. Where were you born ?
oo you bo

s - — -

_Answer. %47'/'4/14

- Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there?

iAJEi”ﬁ";_:_ﬂ__,_-__J é:ZZ_z LT

Question.

Answenr.

Question. Give any explanation u may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testi-
mony against you, and

Answer.

state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein menitioned has beern
committed, and that there is %oient ause to believe the—/within named
-7 2

_ ;. . B
f . - ((’Z/{;- s ,-"ﬁ?/ﬁ'( (.7/

2p"be admitted to bail in the sum of

15

that he be held to answer the same, an
Hwundred Dollars, and mitted to the /_a}dggr—aﬁdmer of
y

the City Prison of the7City of New TYork, wuntil he Sive sw / /A%
7 Z:
. - LA

Datea, 2 f A gL 189D

e

thereof, I order

.Z' have admitted the ahove-nanyed,

2o bail to- dnswer by the wndertalking hereto annexed.

189 Police Justice.

Dated,

B

There being no sufficient cause 2o believe the within named

Suilty of the offense to be discharded, . .

within mentioned, I order h

Police Justice. )
1881 :
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KATE Tps

COMPLALINANT, b eins dulyv sworn » testified that

li~red at 36 1/2 saxt 2r street. She krew thhe de-

Terrdant, @nd Mad Tnowns Mim weeks., The de fend-

ant lived at 36 1/2 Haxter street. On the

June the deferndant wn n thhe rooms with hoer.

Lroke a cigarette rol. er = elongin: to the

reat her Tor breskin it. Shie started to

and he
rman out of thre lhouse , near the
door the delaendon

head. shie, the st re ot

37, to dehialy : i-d wite told ¥e.

Bhat the defendsant had heen be ating her.

defendmit subsequently we'.t over to No. 37, and

slte returned to Mer rooms i ehin a nim. “hen she cot

to her rooms, sh saw her clothing in the [irve

Place. et the house her clothes

in a trnk. »ad about #50.00 woxth of
W

in the trunk, and it was in the trunkwhen

the de fendsnt thore. Whern

fire she ran mck into the

street, ad went over to Mrs. Mclanon's =2gain.

clothing was ent irely burned. About a wesk b

e,




the adsyv in qQuestion, the deieiviay nad threatened
to burn her el othing, because €-e cky avay I'rom
im.

Cross-examinat ion the e ompPlainant tes-
tified thrat at tle time T e2r clotring was burned

thhere wac n Dody in tlwe Wou se bhut the defandant,

There wem: two &oors to that house, and three win-

dows, but the windows were Tastered down.
compl airnant, never I aa any ficits with any wonwen
in the house. Sire did not know thhat any woman was
Jealous bhecause snhe, the canplainant , was living
with the deferd ant. On the evenirg of the 24th of
June she, the canp lainant, slept at Mo. 37 Baxt er
str eet. She slept by herself; she did not. sleep

withh any man. She was living with the de Tendant ,

as his house-keeper. She was not intoxicated on

the mormirg: in mestion; she had not one drop to

drink that mor nin g. The clothes which were: de-
stroyed wer: noi bought for ie v by the defendant.
She had krown the de fendant alout tir es month s. She
thh e canpl aing nt, was washirg dishe s at the sink, anq

the deferdant want up to her and pulled on he v dres s,




JULIUS

DITOTT
uLSJ'l 2

belng duly

s2id to tre de

amd let me waskh: the ¢ : sunno ses

no dted the cigarette holder out Of higmn and,

sie szid to Hm, "Look out, 1 wiig breal v our

cigarett holdew. The deferar said, "You hag bet

"1f vou rush me, 1

[

ter not hareak 1t."  She said,

can't help it," and sre stepped on it and hroke it

by acecident. The defendnng Pickea up the cigaret te

o

10lder ang Puz it in hig mouth, and then he tir-ew

it on the flo oxr acain, anag vent ov e to her ang

comrenced to beagt ® v, with his 4fists. The reason

£0 into hep rooms and put out the " ipe

she aiad not
Was that she wasg al’reid )
haa threatenedq ¢ o Eill her,

wvhen har o lot*e s w ere Iurned.

cloak in the m Oornirr when tle trouble herar.. The

defenimt wa g & workig nan, and went to work

nicrht, He clways SUupplie d ey witih

fiecessaries of tie house, while he was livig

hewr.. Shre, the canplainant > Aid not have a fight

across the f‘i-e—escape wiith the wonan next door,

lda Jackson, with a knife.

SWorn, testifi eg that e livea at 3g 1/2




ew Vo k.
in tre front apartments.

af"termoon of tle 25th of Junie, between 5
e was about to enter his aspartment s when
smoke, The defendz nt anrnd thre complainant oc capied
the rear apartments on tre +loor on whiech he , tre
witness, He locked throurh wirnd ow into
thhe de Pandant 's arartments, =2nd e Y Tire there.
He threw water on the fire, and tre n n Mloscovered
that it was a woman's clothing trha had heen burnin .
He savy the defer i=nt in the room ws 2 the Tire was,
but he 4did not see the de Fendant Joing anythirne .
Alter putting out the £ ire e, th wi tnes:., went to
nis own room. fde asked the delondant how the Tire
come to he there, but the defendmant did not answer
tis gquestion.

in cross-examira tion the witness testified
that he loocked throurh a wind ow into thre defenant's
bed-room, and the door of the hed room wes open

and e coald see the Ffire -place in tlre ki tehen, Irom

the all. He did not krow whe ther the deierd ant set

the clotles on fire or not.
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50,

HENCE, HOSIE DOUGLAS, eire - sworn, tes

red the 25th or June, 18-
with the compla
tihe "ire oc curred, the

with her, the witnes Se

e camplsinant had hoen Crinking. The conpl ain

drunk tliat morri s The complainant t old
witiess, that > Oor tie
she had "co-habited with a sentlemant
st reet. VWiten they returmo A from inarke
Plainant went into ey ou
rmess (Ciiayr e ne out.
corplairnant entewed the complainant's

roanz , and the complainant sai d to her, tle witmg

"1 have sone nice the complainat: picike

up a ha: ; S o 3 tiem in her apron. °
defendont was sit ting nlayi

1d she, tile wi tness, took a handful oFf pins anad
ran out. The defendant sai d, Vhat 4aid you run out

Tee

of my house #or, when 1 cane into my house." Sh e,

the witness, szld, "Katie told me she woulad sive

some pins," and the defendant said, "Come up

e

~

a

e




will gsive you some rmore r armd the de fend =t pat .

thhe pins o) SO WN . The com=-

pleirznt aid not have #50.00 worth of

caomplainant's c¢lotles were not worthh more

15

ten to twenty “ollers. The deit ndant Lousint

ecrusce the con-

tiiat e dia.

peing duly swoyn, te st
tre 25th of: June

2

Mew Yorlk .

canplainant andg
#ire to it. He did not set t*e ..lothe s on
noyr A4id e know who did.
In cross-exunim tion the de fendant te s;-
tifried that he atered the house and D und
caning out over the Tan-light of the door of
IOCiNS o Tlhe door was Lurset in. He went into tle
his overcoat and the canpl ain-

shoes =:d several othrey articles out of thwe

fire and carried them into the othe r room a nd put




conmericed nlace,

work-hoxes and a Tew cther

€ mantel-piece,
enced to fi:nt tle:
Leer Jr i ot sulTorated a
sat Zown o tre 1. ounre., e did not raren iep-
wiar ic AT e o d i fat he @did ot
vhat dammase the did, as lons as e ;sot hhis

thinss out of it. Alrout thiirtsen or ourteen

Dreceding trhig ri e had heen char-ed w

saul t had o 1 dischar ed.

re —direcszt examire tion

testi fied tihrat "o was g loncshoreman aa wor ke d

-

nisrtt, and a portion Q' the g,

NI

at




@onrt of Geuernl Sessions of fhe Leace

IN AND FOorR THE CITY AND COUNTY oF NEW YoRrE.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

AGAINST

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indietment accuse
- M— > L i‘\w—

of the ORIME oF UNLAWFULLY AND WiLruLLy Mz& PERSONAL PROPERTY OF ANOTHER,

committed as follows :

Thesaidm AN M. ‘

—

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on theww

day of ___B&,_\A__ in the year of our TLord omne thousand eight hunched and
nmety— » at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, > S,

of the value of WMM_ —

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one ™I 4 M

then and there being,

~against the form of the statute in such case made and prévided, and against fhe'peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.




